WORKING PAPER SERIES

Working Paper #2022 - 02

Riding the wave: Challenges and opportunities for marine renewable energies in Canada's energy transition

Daniel Forrest, Xinru Li, Marta Flotats Avilés, Margaryta Pustova, and Alastair Roberts

Year: 2022

FISH 507 Winter Term

This working paper is made available by the Institute for the Oceans and Fisheries, University of British Columbia, 2202 Main Mall, Vancouver, BC, V6T 1Z4, Canada

Riding the wave: Challenges and opportunities for marine renewable energies in Canada's energy transition

Daniel Forrest, Xinru Li, Marta Flotats Avilés, Margaryta Pustova, and Alastair Roberts

University of British Columbia, Vancouver

FISH507 Winter 2021

Table of Contents

Exe	ecutive Summary	2
1.	Introduction	3
2.	Marine Renewable Technologies	4
2	2.1 Offshore winds	4
2	2.2 Tidal stream and barrage	4
2	2.3 Wave	6
2	2.4 Technological Barriers	6
3.	Economy	7
3	3.1 Tidal power	8
3	3.2 Offshore wind	9
3	3.3 Potential cost reductions	10
3	3.4 Socio-economic benefits of marine renewables	10
Во	x 1. Orkney Islands Case Study	
4.	Environment	12
2	4.1 Retiring Risks	13
	4.1.1 Noise	
	4.1.2 Electromagnetic fields (EMF)	
	4.1.3 Changes in Benthic and Pelagic Habitats	
	4.1.4 Changes in Oceanographic Systems	
4	4.2 Remaining Risks	
	4.2.1 Collision	
	4.3 Environmental Risk Summary	
	,	
	x 2. Trillium Power Case Study	
5.	·	
	5.1 Fostering support for MRE	19
Ę	5.2 Partnership with Indigenous communities and reconciliation	21
6.	Future electricity demand and potential roles for MRE	22
Во	x 3: Niche markets for MRE	23
7.	Conclusions	24
0	Deferences	27

Executive Summary

Canada has committed to reaching net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. Achieving this objective will require a rapid transition to renewable energy sources to decarbonize existing electricity supply and power new end uses. The roles that different renewable technologies will play in a future energy mix is up for debate; we must decide where and to what extent renewable power sources will be developed and scale them up quickly to enable a transition away from emitting sources. While Canada has over 2300 gigawatts (GW) of potential marine renewable energy (MRE), over 20 times its existing hydroelectric capacity, no utility scale MRE developments exist in Canada at present.

In this report, we assess the opportunities for MRE and the barriers to its development in Canada. Specifically, we assess 1) the status of the major MRE technologies: offshore wind, tidal, and wave; 2) the total potential MRE capacity across the country; 3) the current economic landscape for MRE; 4) the ecological and other environmental risks of MRE technologies; 5) the public perception of MRE, and 6) some potential roles for and advantages of MRE over other renewable sources. We conclude by pointing out some relative advantages of marine renewable power as compared to other renewables, some key impediments to MREs growth, and some key questions that remain for the future of these technologies.

We find that, on average, MREs are more predictable and consistent than terrestrial renewables in providing power. They are also abundant in coastal and island regions, where they are not bound by the spatial constraints of terrestrial renewables. We also find that most forms of MRE are unlikely to significantly affect ecosystems based on currently available research. Marine renewable technologies can provide energy security to remote coastal communities that currently rely on diesel and have the potential to support a just transition by providing jobs to workers in dying coastal and offshore industries such as oil and natural gas extraction. However, several factors have prevented Canada from capitalizing on its wealth of MRE resources and expanding the sector: namely 1) an often-convoluted regulatory environment; 2) a history of poor public perception and engagement; 3) a lack of available capital investment; 4) a need for additional evidence to support the viability of novel MRE technologies; and 5) economic competition from terrestrial wind and solar. Moving forward, we propose that an expansion of the MRE sector will require continued capital investment in research and deployment of test arrays, changes to the regulatory landscape to streamline development and responsible project planning with community engagement and support.

1. Introduction

The Government of Canada has committed to reaching net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, as outlined in the 2021 Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act^{1,2}. Achieving the net-zero emissions target will require both the decarbonization of electricity generation, as well as rapid electrification of sectors that currently rely on fossil fuels, particularly the heating of buildings and transportation³. The *Canadian Energy Outlook* projects that this rapid transition would require a two-fold increase in electricity generation by 2050⁴, which must be met by renewable generation sources if Canada is to meet its legislated climate commitments¹.

While terrestrial renewables, like wind and solar, are rapidly expanding in Canada⁵, the role of marine renewable energy (MRE) technologies in decarbonization is still unclear. MRE technologies are designed to harness the power of the ocean by leveraging the flow of offshore winds, waves, and tides to generate electricity^{6,7}. Canada's tidal and wave energies alone have a potential of at least 340 gigawatts (GW), while offshore wind capacity has been estimated at over 2000 GW, over twenty times larger than our current hydroelectric capacity⁸.

Canada has been building a MRE industry for the past two decades, motivated by the huge potential for electricity generation and higher predictability of MRE technologies compared to terrestrial renewables⁹. Because of these characteristics, MRE could provide a stable supply of energy to the grid and reduce the need for excess energy storage¹⁰. These technologies could also aid in the decarbonization of remote, coastal, and Indigenous communities that largely rely on burning diesel to generate electricity¹¹. Additionally, marine renewables have been deployed successfully in Europe and Asia, where their contribution to the share of power generation is growing^{12–14}. Thus, MRE has the potential to facilitate Canada's energy transition by complementing terrestrial renewables. However, questions about the maturity of the technologies, as well as cost-efficiency, public acceptance, and environmental impacts have historically limited the development of marine renewables in Canada.

In this context, the following report aims to comprehensively assess the barriers and opportunities associated with scaling up the development of offshore wind, tidal and wave energies in order to facilitate Canada's transition to net-zero by 2050. Moreover, we aim to assess the potential role of MRE in Canada's transition to a carbon-neutral energy system by midcentury. The report draws on a thorough overview of available academic and grey

literatures, as well as technical interviews with experts from research institutes (Interviewees 1 and 8), academic institutions (Interviewees 4 and 8), utility companies (Interviewee 3), non-profit organization (Interviewee 5), industry associations (Interviewee 6), and the federal (Interviewee 7) and provincial (Interviewee 2) governments.

2. Marine Renewable Technologies

2.1 Offshore winds

Of the existing methods of harnessing renewable marine energy, offshore wind turbines are the cheapest and most developed^{7,9,11}. Wind forces turn the rotor blades of offshore turbines, which are driven into the seabed or fixed to a floating foundation in the high seas¹⁵. Many turbines, which can be switched on and off, are installed in an array that feeds power to the mainland through a seabed cable.

Offshore wind arrays are deployed at large scales across the globe^{7,11}, especially in Europe, which had 16.3 GW of installed offshore wind capacity in 2018, accounting for 90.5% of a worldwide market which has only grown since then¹⁶. By contrast, and despite having some of the world's best wind resources on its east and west coasts⁸, Canada has no utility-scale offshore wind farms at all¹⁷. This lack of development is related to the higher cost of offshore wind power production compared to its inland counterpart¹⁸ as well as political and regulatory factors discussed in further sections. Though offshore winds are generally more predictable and powerful than those on land, the harsh marine environment introduces design and cost hurdles to all phases of development¹⁸ (Interviewee 4, 6). Despite this, offshore wind projects are becoming cost-competitive with other renewables particularly in Europe, as the number and size of developments increase and costs associated with installation and maintenance are reduced^{8,19}.

2.2 Tidal stream and barrage

There are two main classes of tidal energy technology, tidal stream and tidal barrage. In tidal stream generation, flowing water spins stationary, underwater turbines attached to a generator as the tide comes in or goes out, converting the kinetic energy of moving water into electricity that can be fed by cable to a mainland substation²⁰. There is significant variation in turbine design, and some tidal stream technologies are bi-directional¹¹ (Interviewee 8). Most turbines are anchored or driven into the seafloor¹¹. Tidal barrage generation traps water as the tide comes in, either in a lagoon or behind a set of sluice gates at the mouth of an estuary²¹.

As the tide goes out, trapped water is released through a series of turbines, and its flow generates energy, which is fed to a nearby substation^{11,21}.

There is no commercial tidal stream capacity currently connected to the grid in Canada, although the Bay of Fundy has experimental projects²² and some coastal communities in B.C. have projects in the proposal and planning stages of development (Interviewee 8). For their part, tidal barrage systems produce a significant amount of power globally, especially those across the Rance river in France²³ and Lake Shiwa in South Korea²⁴. Canada's only tidal barrage plant, the Annapolis Generating Station, was decommissioned in 2019²⁵ due to its detrimental effects on fish populations and recurrent technological breakdowns²⁶. Internationally, tidal power is not developed to the extent of offshore wind; there are projects running in Europe and Asia with capacities ranging from 1 MW to 250 MW²¹. Looking across the Atlantic, the United Kingdom is at the forefront of wave and tidal energy development. Like the Canadian government, the British government has invested millions into the development of tidal and wave technologies, which one review estimated could generate 34 TWh/year, or 11% of its total electricity demand by 2050¹³. Canada has an enormous potential for tidal energy generation at an estimated 35700 MW; the Bay of Fundy boasts the largest tidal resource in the world, and B.C. has numerous fjords that could also prove suitable for tidal energy generation¹¹ (Interviewees 1, 8).

Tides are highly predictable, which means the contribution of tidal energy to the grid is more easily modelled than for some other renewables²¹ (Interviewees 1, 2, 8). As a result, tidal does not suffer from the 'energy storage problem' to the same degree as other renewables, which often require extra infrastructure to handle excess loads on the grid when the electricity is not needed. This makes tidal power well-positioned to help meet the steady baseline demand on the grid, while other renewables do the bulk of power generation (Interviewees 1, 4 and 8). Additionally, remote communities and island nations with a lack of suitable land may prefer tidal due to both how predictable it is but also the relative lack of 'space' it takes up, since tidal turbines are usually deployed on the seabed. Funding tidal projects in remote communities may be preferrable to building long-distance cables to connect them to the grid, as local power is less prone to transmission issues and will make communities more self-sufficient (Interviewees 3 and 8). Tidal power is also reliable through the winter, when solar and onshore wind may not be as productive (Interviewee 1).

2.3 Wave

Methods for wave energy generation are varied, many different designs have been tested with varying degrees of success (Interviewee 8). All of these operate on the principle of trapping the energy of waves to spin a turbine or move a fixed piston. While wave technology is still in the early stages of development, promising designs include pitching devices and point absorbing buoys where waves move pistons inside a central shaft and overtopping devices where waves spin turbines²⁷ (Interviewee 8).

Surveys of Canada's wave energy resources vary widely between reports, largely depending on which sites are included and which model is used^{27,28} (Interviewee 8). What is clear is that Canada has a massive wave resource²⁷ which remains unexploited (Interviewee 8). British Columbia has a great deal of potential, with some estimates exceeding 100 GW²⁸, or over half of Canada's projected electricity use for 2035. While technological development is ongoing and no commercial capacity is connected, there has been recent progress in the design space and costs are coming down (Interviewees 1 and 8). As with tidal, wave inputs are often predictable and are much higher in the winter²⁷ when other renewables are less reliable and energy use is more intense (Interviewee 8).

2.4 Technological Barriers

The construction of wind, wave and tidal arrays in the ocean requires specialized equipment and professional divers, and becomes challenging in bad weather, making the installation and maintenance of devices in the sea more expensive and time-consuming than on land¹⁶ (Interviewees 2,4). One expert we interviewed (Interviewee 6) also pointed out that a lack of sufficient construction infrastructure and an inexperienced workforce limit the expansion of MRE development in Nova Scotia compared to the northeast coast of the U.S.²⁹. Site investigation and evaluation of seabed conditions (e.g., depth, width, slope and composition) are also essential to the viability and safety of wind farms³⁰, and other considerations such as ice cover and nearby shipping lines must be accounted for 16,31. Additionally, the use of traditional ocean-monitoring equipment is not always possible in regions with strong tides, such as the Bay of Fundy which hosts Canada's largest tidal resource (Interviewee 2). As the amount of work to characterize and install generating devices and underwater cables increases, projects may become economically impractical; fixed-foundation wind turbines become uneconomical when installed in water deeper than 50 meters for instance 16,31. Saltwater also corrodes generating devices and cables, which necessitates a more costly, resilient design and reduces the overall lifetime of devices³². For tidal, the intense flow of

water, which is much denser than air, also strains turbine components and necessitates both robust design and careful placement (Interviewees 1, 2, 3, 8). Developers also have yet to converge on an optimal turbine design for tidal stream, and tidal stream and barrage are in relatively early phases of development in comparison to offshore wind and land-based renewables (Interviewees 1, 8). For its part, wave energy is still in the technology-development phase, where costs are high and no one design has been optimized (Interviewee 8). As a result, it will likely be some time before wave energy technology is efficient and cost-effective enough for large-scale deployment.

The lack of sufficient infrastructure for energy storage and transmission is another critical factor that currently limits the development of MRE in Canada (Interviewees 6, 8). The electricity generated by wind, tidal or wave is fed by seabed cable to onshore substations and then transmitted to the main utility grid or stored in a local battery system¹⁵. While transmission infrastructure is currently lacking or needs upgrading in many places, building and upgrading these cables is inevitable regardless of what the future mix of renewables looks like in Canada (Interviewees 3, 5, 6).

3. Economy

Canada's marine renewable energy (MRE) has the potential to contribute to the electrification necessary to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 along with other renewable sources. However, the sector faces two significant barriers on the financial side, a high cost per unit of energy and low access to capital (Interviewees 1-6). In general, MRE projects are costly, large investments are required for materials, the construction and installation of arrays in the ocean, the maintenance and monitoring of the technology, and if necessary, the withdrawal of devices 33,34. Project permitting also requires investment and can be a confusing process under the current provincial regulatory frameworks 55. Taken together with the relative economic attractiveness of onshore renewables, private investment in MRE is generally lacking (Interviewee 2).

In this section, we report the cost of tidal and offshore wind energies in Canada, as examples. We also detail the difficulties in obtaining capital to fund marine renewable projects. Lastly, we summarize the benefits marine renewables could bring to communities and propose possible solutions to the cost of MRE implementation. Wave energy is very expensive per unit of energy generated, and too early in the development phase for realistic cost estimates, especially given the wide range of different wave technologies being explored.

Technologies	Offshore wind power	Wave power	Tidal power	Solar	Inland wind power	Nuclear
Electricity unit price (CAD\$/kWh)	0.09-0.11 ³⁶	0.10- 1.90 ^{37,38}	0.40- 0.66 ³⁷	0.18-0.28 ¹⁷	0.07 - 0.22^{17}	$0.14-0.28^{17}$

Table 1. Estimated costs of marine and terrestrial renewable energies.

3.1 Tidal power

Tidal energy has been around for many years; however, it still requires a very high initial investment, has long construction times, and the future of the technology is uncertain³⁵ (Interviewee 8). The United Kingdom has developed tidal energy to a much larger degree than Canada has, and though the economic and environmental conditions of the two countries are quite different, tidal is not yet cost-competitive in either one. However, when factoring in subsidies, the scaled-up construction of tidal arrays and cost benefits to the grid from the predictable nature of tidal power, costs are much lower than they may appear at first glance and on a steep downward trajectory¹³ (Interviewees 4, 8). The U.K. and Canada have also built a huge number of test sites, an expensive but necessary step in bringing costs down and refining technology which can then be deployed or sold to other countries¹³ (Interviewee 2).

Nova Scotia has made significant capital investments in developing tidal technologies in collaboration with industry, first nations groups and academic institutions (Interviewee 2). Currently, these projects are subsidized almost entirely by the federal and provincial governments. Last year, provincial investment in Nova Scotia tidal energy research was 28.5 million dollars, but more still is needed to achieve the objective of cost-effective technology³⁹ (Interviewee 2). One solution for more rapid development might be to seek private investment, but some of these investors are reticent to invest in tidal energy due to the high uncertainty on their return (Interviewee 8). The most common concern is whether the benefits of tidal will ever outweigh the cost, and if so, when will this become a reality (Interviewees 1, 8). Public investment in renewables in general, on the other hand, is likely necessary to develop efficient technologies that will help Canada to achieve its 2050 carbon goals, the question is how much of that money should go to which technology to maximize return and shield ratepayers from high electricity costs (Interviewees 1, 2). Some argue that the development of technology alone will pay dividends, even if it is never connected to the grid. Furthermore, how much costs will be reduced is a matter of disagreement; while some say

that we are in a similar place with tidal as we once were with offshore wind and that costs will inevitably come down (Interviewees 4, 8), others see the increased cost of operating in a turbulent marine environment as inherent to the technology (Interviewees 1, 2, 5).

3.2 Offshore wind

Currently, there are no operational offshore wind farms in Canada, but many other nations have significant capacity installed³³. However, the costs associated with the construction of turbines, underwater cabling, maintenance of offshore arrays, and the transmission of the electricity generated are considerably higher than onshore wind power³³. For example, offshore maintenance and cabling can be up to ten times more expensive than onshore cabling¹⁴. The overall energy cost of offshore (USD \$0.115/kWh) wind in the US was up to three times higher than onshore wind (USD \$0.03kWh/ - \$0.053/kWh) as recently as 2019⁴⁰. However, the cost of onshore has declined in recent years. Since 2012, offshore wind power has reduced its cost by around 67%, and it is expected to continue falling, from its current price of \$84000/KWh to \$58000/KWh by 2025⁴¹. Increased scale of arrays and a growing number of investors in this field are cited as the main reasons for this reduction, due mostly to the recent advancements in technology and deployment making offshore wind projects more economical³³. In 2021, offshore wind projects are considered cost-competitive with other renewables in some environments when built at scale⁴².

Despite the rapid decline in the cost of offshore wind and the increase in the potential of energy generation⁴³, private investors and the government in Canada (federal and provincial) are still reluctant to invest in offshore wind energy. This lack of investment is partly due to competition with the generally cheaper onshore wind power, which is already well developed, easier to install, is not as constrained by land space in Canada as in other nations. Furthermore, there are a limited number of offshore wind projects in North America, which limits confidence³³ (Interviewee 4).

3.3 Potential cost reductions

The following are proposed cost-reduction strategies for marine renewables (Interviewees 1-8):

- Public or private utilities could build the transmission cables required to connect devices to the main grid to reduce the cost for developers.
- Private and public organizations could clarify and streamline the regulatory and environmental assessment processes to reduce the cost for developers.
- Exporting energy to other countries as demand increases will yield a better return on investment in these projects. For example, the export of electricity generated by offshore winds to the U.S.
- Most importantly: global collaboration and technology sharing would speed up technological development, increase the supply of materials and reduce their cost.

3.4 Socio-economic benefits of marine renewables

Marine renewable energies could have localized benefits if developed with the wellbeing of these communities in mind. Renewable energy projects provide numerous jobs in the construction, installation, maintenance and monitoring of generating infrastructure. In the case of marine renewables, these opportunities are often in rural and remote parts of the country⁴⁴. For example, across the U.K., offshore wind currently employs 26,000 people, projected to rise to over 69,000 by 2026⁴⁵. In Canada, a study in Nova Scotia found that by 2040 tidal energy could employ up to 20,000 people full-time and generate \$815 million in income for those workers⁴⁶. In remote communities especially, generating and selling power back to the grid is an attractive option, and local ownership over MRE projects could also create wealth and stability in these towns. It should be noted that these benefits depend on the degree to which public and private investment is used to develop the various marine resources in a responsible manner, and how ownership of those projects is allocated. Ultimately, local ownership and control may help to bring communities onside with renewable projects and speed up development.

Box 1. Orkney Islands Case Study



Figure 1. The most powerful tidal turbine in the world, Orbital 02, being towed to Orkney. Photo by Orbital Marine Power project.

The Orkney Islands is an archipelago of 70 islands, located off the north coast of mainland Scotland⁴⁷. Since 2016, Orkney has been producing over 120% of its total electricity needs through renewable energy sources, mainly wind, but also solar, wave, and tidal power. These islands are one of the only jurisdictions in the world that produces an excess of renewable energy⁴⁸. Their investment in renewable energies started in the 1950s when Orkney suffered from fuel poverty due to the high cost of imported fossil fuels and the impoverished economic state of the island, a result of its rough climate, few industries, and poorly built housing. In 1950, Orkney built the first wind turbine in the U.K., but a massive hurricane destroyed the project. In the late 70s, Orkney resumed its efforts to grow local renewable energy generation, and over the past two decades its renewable energy production has grown rapidly, from 17 GWh in 2003 to 140 GWh in 2014; most of this growth is from onshore wind power^{48–50}.

Yet, wind intensity varies seasonally (higher in winter and lower in summer) and diurnally, meaning that generation patterns do not always align with the demand^{51,52}. Thus, the intermittent nature of wind energy generation did not allow Orkney to rely solely on this energy source for its power supply. Rather, to achieve energy independence, Orkney also needed to develop more predictable tidal and wave energy⁴⁹.

Another key development came in 2003 when the island established the European Marine Energy Centre (EMEC), which is now the leading centre for the testing and accreditation of marine energy devices. The centre gives developers the opportunity to test their prototypes with a set-up grid connector ⁵³. Some of the devices have shown promising results: for example, in 2021, the O2 tidal turbine was launched, and it is expected to operate in Orkney waters for the next 14 years and meet the demand of around 2000 U.K. homes (Figure 1)⁵⁴. The energetic results for this device are not yet available, but it can already be appreciated that MRE is having a beneficial economic footprint on the islands. Moreover, since EMEC was established, the population of the Orkney Islands has grown, and younger people are returning to settle with the prospect of new jobs and a blossoming MRE industry (Interviewee 2).

Orkney is a global leader in MRE development, demonstrating the economic value of marine renewable energy to local communities as well as to the broader energy industry and other nations. They have also shown that it is possible to power entire islands and cities entirely with renewable energy. Most importantly, their example indicates that marine renewable energy can play a complementary role in achieving net-zero carbon emissions without the need for massive storage infrastructure since wind and solar power are somewhat intermittent and tidal and wave energy can help fill in supply gaps.

4. Environment

All Marine Renewable Energy Technologies have the potential to positively and negatively impact wildlife and the abiotic environment. However, the type and degree of impact and the specific taxonomic groups impacted varies significantly with the type of technology deployed. In this section, we discuss the concerns and potential impacts of each MRE technology on the environment, detail the level of support for or against these impacts in the literature, and highlight the need for additional research where evidence is scarce. We draw significantly upon one key publication, a report written by members of the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, "Risk Retirement for Environmental Effects of Marine Renewable Energy", supplemented by additional scientific articles, reports, and interviews. While we will not systematically compare MREs to other forms of energy generation, we stress that any technology to generate electricity will have some degree of environmental impact and involve various trade-offs⁵⁵. We must consider whether the immediate risks posed by MRE technologies outweigh the risks posed by other energy generation technologies. For example, terrestrial wind and solar arrays require land use changes for resource extraction and deployment, and the excessive burning of fossil fuels has caused the climate crisis, land use change, and other detrimental effects on the environment⁵⁵.

Table 2. Environmental impacts of marine renewable energy technologies at small scales

(one to a few deployed devices).

,	Technology			
Risk/Impact	Offshore Wind	Tidal, Wave & Current		
Туре				
Collision	Low to no impact ⁵⁶	High potential and uncertainty for		
		collision risk to marine life ^{57,58}		
Noise	Low to no impact ^{59–63}	Low to no impact ^{59–63}		
EMF	Low to no impact ^{64–68}	Low to no impact ^{64–68}		
Change to	Low risk; potential for positive	Low risk; potential for positive		
Habitat	impacts ^{69,70}	impacts ^{69,70}		
Displacement	High potential for displacement of	High potential for displacement of		
	marine life during installation,	marine life during installation,		
	decommissioning; low-medium	decommissioning; low-medium		
	potential during operation ^{71,72}	potential during operation ^{71,72}		
Hydrodynamics Low to no impact ⁷³		Low to no impact ⁷³		

4.1 Retiring Risks

Small-scale deployment of MRE technologies (one to a few devices) has been well studied and environmental risks have been assessed at this scale. Copping et al. (2020) review and summarize numerous studies on impacts from deployments at small scales and use a circular "risk retirement" system to determine if risks should be dismissed, properly mitigated, or deemed unacceptable. The publication has become the field standard for assessing the environmental impacts of MRE (Interviewee 8). The risks identified by Copping et al. are: 1) animal collision with turbines and other equipment, 2) the effect of noise from installation and operation of MRE deployments (MREDs) on animal behavior, 3) the effect of electromagnetic fields (EMF) from power cables on marine life navigation, 4) changes to the seabed or water column habitats during installation, operation, and removal of deployments, 5) displacement or barrier effects of arrays on wildlife, and 6) changes in circulation and sediment transport due to device operation. Based on the "risk retirement" system and existing evidence and engagement from the MRE community, including developers, regulators, researchers, and consultants, four of the six risks were deemed suitable for retirement at small scale: the effects of underwater noise; EMF; changes to habitat; and changes in oceanographic systems. We will provide an explanation for their dismissal for small-scale MREDs below.

4.1.1 Noise

All MRE technologies produce sound above and below the surface, which may impact marine animals' behavior, causing avoidance or attraction to an area, and/or interrupting communication and navigation ability^{59,61}. Moreover, device construction and removal have the potential to produce enough noise to cause temporary or permanent tissue damage and hearing loss in marine mammals^{60,62}. However, most MRE devices are installed/decommissioned using low noise technologies⁶³. Additionally, several studies have demonstrated that operational noise from MREs is undetectable at decibel levels above ambient noise and other anthropogenic sources, such as container ships. The risk of marine noise pollution will, however, need to be reassessed for behavioral impacts resulting from MRED arrays as MREs are deployed at scale.

4.1.2 Electromagnetic fields (EMF)

EMFs produced by undersea cables and other elements of MREs have the potential to interfere with certain organisms' ability to navigate their environment or migrate, as they may interfere with the detection of Earth's natural geomagnetic field. However, all subsea cables and many bridges and tunnels deployed in the ocean already produce EMFs. Additionally, oil and gas facilities emit EMFs^{74,75} at levels equal to or greater than MREs produce, even at large scales^{76,77}. Laboratory and field studies show that electro- and magneto-sensitive species, including marine invertebrates and fish, are sensitive to EMFs but show no significant changes in behavior as a result, even at high energy^{64–68}. The impacts of EMFs on the migration and behavior of sensitive species, though unlikely to change at large scales based on current evidence, should still be reassessed as MRE are deployed at scale.

4.1.3 Changes in Benthic and Pelagic Habitats

All MREDs, from offshore wind turbines driven into the seabed to tidal barrages floating near the surface, have a footprint, as do all maritime activities. An oil platform, for example, alters the seabed by providing a hard surface structure and shelter for organisms in areas with naturally soft substrates. This typically leads to an increase in the diversity and abundance of invertebrate species like barnacles, as the newly-introduced hard surface provides the structure they need to filter-feed on suspended food particles in the water column⁷⁰. This changes the energetics of the ecosystem, as other organisms colonize the area to feed on the invertebrates⁶⁹. MREDs also typically function as *de facto* marine protected areas (MPAs), preventing fisheries activities in the immediate area⁶⁹. While this is unlikely to significantly impact marine populations at small scales, this may result in significant changes to fishing pressures at large scales and may lead to conflicts between fishers and MRE developers. Thus, these changes to system energetics and community structure will need to be modelled and tested at large scales to see if they result in different, unforeseen impacts on far-field habitats.

4.1.4 Changes in Oceanographic Systems

MREDs will disturb the natural water flow and remove kinetic energy from the system. This has the potential to change sediment transport and water quality and could cause downstream effects on other habitats. At small scales, however, the effects from devices will be lost in the natural variability and stochasticity of the system⁷³. At larger scales, further studies

employing numerical models are required to test the potential effects of MRED arrays on oceanography.

4.2 Remaining Risks

Two risks have yet to be considered for retirement at small scales: collision of marine organisms with devices and displacement of marine life due to deployment. Below, we describe their potential impacts and what further evidence is needed to determine the degree of risk.

4.2.1 Collision

The risk of collision is considered a serious threat to marine life and seabirds posed by MREDs. The blades of submerged turbines, such as those used in tidal technology, pose a serious risk of injury or death to animals. The level of risk is entirely dependent on context, including the type of device deployed and the ecology of the area. At present, behavioral studies suggest that most marine mammals and seabirds simply avoid turbine structures, causing displacement risk, as discussed below^{56–58,78}. However, there are several challenges in assessing this risk for other taxonomic groups; firstly, detection of animals can be extraordinarily difficult in high-energy environments underwater, as turbidity and entrained air can obscure video footage and make observation difficult (Interviewee 1). Secondly, monitoring equipment is not typically built for the high-energy environments where MREDs are deployed, leading to a lack of reliable measurement, damage to devices, and/or irretrievability (Interviewee 1). For these reasons, computer models are often employed; however, these models over-simplify the risk of collision by using variables like blade sweep, population size, and range estimates to estimate encounter rates and impact (Interviewee 2). Ultimately, understanding the risk of collision posed by MREDs will require improvements in monitoring devices, an increase in the scale of deployment to allow for more widespread data collection, and context-specific analyses^{56,58,73,78}.

4.2.2 Displacement

MREDs occupy space, pose a physical threat, make noise, emit EMFs, and change habitats. While any one of these factors may be unlikely to dramatically impact a population in the long term, their cumulative effects may cause marine life to avoid areas they once inhabited⁷³. For example, during MRED construction, harbour porpoises will often vacate the area they formerly inhabited and will only return once conditions have stabilized^{71,72} (Interviewee 6). The degree to which MREDs will permanently displace organisms and the downstream impacts of these displacements on marine communities is still largely unknown.

4.3 Environmental Risk Summary

The evidence to date suggests that, at small scales, MREDs pose minimal risk to marine life, or, at most, risks comparable to those of existing maritime activities. However, a much greater degree of uncertainty exists around large-scale deployments. Efforts to minimize these risks include selecting sites with low abundance, those outside of key feeding grounds or migratory routes, and design modifications to physically reduce collision risk⁷³. However, the overlap of ideal locations for MREDs and those important to marine life is extensive, and sometimes collisions cannot be entirely avoided. Additionally, not all environmental impact studies produce transferrable results and conclusions, as many risks are context dependent. Therefore, additional studies on the environmental impacts of MREDs at large scales are needed. Before large-scale MREDs exist in Canada, modeling and simulation studies should be used to produce estimates of risk. Ultimately, however, understanding their impact will require the development of large-scale MREDs and subsequent in situ studies. Yet, environmental assessments to meet rules and regulations are often one of the key inhibitors of developments (Interviewee 6). Canada therefore needs to create a regulatory process catered to MRE, which permits low-risk MREDs, as ultimately, MREs diffuse benefits (countering the climate and ecological crises) will likely outweigh their acute environmental risks.

Box 2. Trillium Power Case Study

[Disclaimer: much of the following information was gathered from news articles and a statement of claim from Trillium Power Wind Corporation against the Government of Ontario. The order and content of events detailed here may reflect the biases of the claimant and/or news outlets, as these sources are the only publicly available records of events on the topic.]



Figure 2. An offshore wind development. Photo by Masha Basova (Shutterstock.com)

In 2011, Trillium Power Wind Corporation, a private, Canadian-owned company was set to build a 500 MW far-offshore wind farm, "TPW1", on Lake Ontario near Kingston. They completed 105 studies, reports, and regulatory actions including studies on environmental impacts and found low overall risk. Trillium was initially permitted to proceed with development, but the project was cancelled by the Ontario government on February 11, 2011. The company had already invested over 5 million dollars in the project. The project not only could have powered at least 130,000 homes in Ontario, but Trillium estimated that it would have offset 2.57 million tonnes of carbon emissions, 7,500 tonnes of nitrous oxide emissions, and 15,500 tonnes of sulfur oxide emissions, and reduced water use in coal and natural gas generation by 14.1 billion liters per year⁷⁹. TPW1 would have created roughly 2,100 jobs, generated \$1.16 billion in tax revenue for the province, and initiated a new era for the offshore wind industry on the Great Lakes and Canada⁷⁹. So why did the Ontario government cancel the project and impose a moratorium on all offshore wind energy developments that is still in place today?

The cancellation in February 2011 did not occur without warning. Some Ontarians with property near the Great Lakes had expressed their opposition, citing changes to the view from shore and negative impacts on their property values. Trillium later alleged in a lawsuit that this political pressure is what led Ontario's government to impose a unilateral moratorium on all offshore wind developments in November 2006, in the run up to the October 2007 election⁸⁰. In late 2006, Trillium urged the OMNR to reconsider the moratorium, citing the distinction between near-shore and far-offshore power generation and that Trillium's proposed development raised none of the objections being advanced against near-shore locations, In 2008, following the elections, the moratorium for offshore wind development on Ontario's Great Lakes was lifted. Trillium resumed permitting and engaged with St. Lawrence College to initiate an offshore wind technician training program, expecting to manufacture turbines in Ontario. In May 2009, the Ontario Government passed the *Green Energy Act* (GEA), with support and an endorsement from Trillium Power. The GEA created a feed-in tariff (FIT) to support commercial renewable energy generation, and a "made in Ontario" clause which required that a large percentage of the labor and production be sourced in Ontario. In August 2010, the Ministry of Environment (MoE) notified Trillium that the updated TPW1 project proposal had been reviewed and accepted by MoE and would be a high priority for processing by the Ontario Government. In January 2011, Trillium made all legal and financial arrangements in preparation for construction. A month later, in February 2011, the Government of Ontario imposed another moratorium on offshore wind, catching Trillium off guard. The company was set to finalize their financial agreements with an investor, Dundee Incorporated, but the moratorium ended this agreement, effectively terminating TPW1.

[Continued on p. 16]

Lessons Learned: Barriers and Opportunities

Several pitfalls along TPW1's development route led to the cancellation of the project: principally, 1) multiple offshore wind moratoriums, 2) the prolonged time to project approval due to the cumbersome project review and approval process, and 3) complex and time-sensitive financing arrangements. Yet, these pitfalls have underlying socio-economic and political drivers. The offshore wind moratoriums imposed by the Ontario Government were the result of political pressure from constituents, implying at least some degree of local opposition to the "aesthetic burden" of turbines. The prolonged time to project approval resulted from regulatory bodies that were ill-equipped to handle a novel renewable energy project like TPW1. Lastly, funding a project as novel as TPW1 comes with inherent risks to which investors are acutely attuned. Each delay and obstruction gave TPW1's investors more reason to worry, and the second offshore wind moratorium was the final straw. The failure of this project to proceed not only directly affected all those involved and its potential beneficiaries, but also had rippling effects across Ontario and Canada's nascent renewable energy industries, and the story likely plays a major role in the state of Canada's renewable energy sector (or lack thereof) today.

5. Public Perception

The degree of public acceptance of marine renewable energy technologies is a significant factor in determining their success in Canada's electricity generation market, as opposition can lead to projects cancellations, delays and increased costs^{81,82}. Multiple renewable energy project proposals in Canada have faced significant opposition from local communities for various complex reasons, including the Site C dam in British Columbia, the Muskrat Falls hydroelectric facility in Newfoundland and Labrador, and multiple proposed on-shore wind turbine projects in Ontario^{83–85}. In light of this, the following section will discuss (1) the public perception of MRE in Canada, (2) the factors that may contribute to the acceptance of, or opposition to, MRE projects, and (3) potential strategies for increasing public support for MRE in Canada.

Concerning the general public's perception of MRE, interviews with the experts suggest the existence of a diverse pool of opinions on MRE technologies in Canada. Interviewee 6 recalled mixed perceptions of MRE following community outreach, with some participants expressing eagerness to bring clean technologies into the community, and others having a more critical stance. In line with this, Interviewee 1 noted that in coastal fishing communities, tidal energy development faces opposition amongst some fishermen due to concerns regarding the impact of devices on already-dwindling stocks and preferred fishing sites, the latter being closely guarded and passed down the generations in fishing families. While lack of support for MRE development from local communities may arise from

concerns around property values or environmental impacts, it can also be the result of a general lack of trust in industry and government (Interviewees 4, 6, 8).

The perception of tidal, wave and offshore wind technologies in remote, off-grid coastal communities has been an important theme explored in interviews with those working in the marine renewables space. This is because these projects have been proposed as an alternative to the diesel generation currently powering these communities. Canada has over 280 communities that are not connected to the North American electrical grid or to a natural gas pipeline, representing about 200 000 people in total⁸⁶. The majority of these off-grid, and often Indigenous, communities rely on diesel-fired electric generators^{86,87}, which are associated with significant economic and environmental challenges^{88–90}. These concerns often translate into positive attitudes towards switching to alternative clean energy sources, especially MRE projects which are locally owned and community-led⁹¹(Interviewees 3, 6). A study by Mercer et al. (2020) suggests that communities' judgment of different renewable energy technologies is shaped by many factors, such as community perception of the abundance of the resource (e.g., observations of the strong wind, waves, or tides), the familiarity with the technology, successes or failures of previous projects, implications for cultural activities, associated environmental effects, affordability, reliability, and health implications. For emerging marine renewables, the findings of the study suggest that the lack of familiarity with a particular technology may be the most significant barrier to widespread community acceptance of energy proposals⁸⁹.

5.1 Fostering support for MRE

Fostering community support for MRE is crucial for ensuring the successful growth of the offshore wind, tidal and wave industries in Canada. Public opposition may translate into extended project development times and increased projects costs or even lead to cancellations^{81,82}. In Ontario for example – where on-shore wind development drew significant and, at times, organized public opposition resulting in project cancellations and delays (Box 2) – community resistance to energy projects poses significant barriers for obtaining necessary road use, entry, and building permits and agreements, hence potentially decreasing the likelihood of successful siting^{82,92}.

In this context, multiple experts stressed that **the ongoing and thoughtful engagement of local communities** affected by MRE project development is critical for

fostering greater support for MRE (Interviewees 4, 6). Interviewee 6 suggests that companies interested in MRE development should set local community engagement and building social license as their primary focuses, especially in the early stages. This might entail organizing education campaigns or community outreach events to provide community members with a better understanding of the risks and benefits associated with a particular MRE technology, and how they compare to those of the current energy source. Additionally, it is crucial to ensure ongoing communication that extends beyond isolated events, to establish meaningful relationships with stakeholders. Interviewees 6 and 8 noted that overcoming the critical perception of the MRE technologies may require providing concerned community members with additional resources, credible academic studies, or an opportunity to meet one-on-one with company representatives or experts. The study by Jami & Walsh⁸² provides similar insights into the factors necessary for successful public engagement and fostering community support for energy projects. The study finds that Ontario citizens usually criticized the governmentally mandated consultation process due to a perceived lack of genuine effort for two-way communication and consideration on the government's part⁸². Similar citizen concerns could arise in the context of MRE development, especially as the number of proposed MRE projects in Canada increases. Academic studies suggest that these challenges may be addressed through early involvement, meaningful public participation rather than consultation, collaborative consensus building and decision making, relationship and trustbuilding, and the proactive presence of developers within the community^{82,93}.

Besides the meaningful involvement of local communities, sharing the benefits of the project with stakeholders or community ownership may aid in speeding up development of MRE and fostering support for projects. This may be achieved, for example, by relying on local suppliers and providing employment opportunities during project development and operation. Another possibility is having locals maintain part or total ownership of power projects, which could provide additional sources of revenue for the community and compensate for potential losses of fishing sites (Interviewees 4, 6). Interviewee 4 also suggested that public support for the project may be strengthened by compensating the affected population for any impacts associated with MRE development, such as landscape view impacts from offshore wind turbines.

5.2 Partnership with Indigenous communities and reconciliation

In addition to climate change mitigation benefits, supporting clean energy development in Indigenous communities is often seen as a pathway to the reconciliation of the relationship between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in Canada⁹⁰. Nearly 85% of Canada's remote Indigenous communities rely on their own diesel generation, which is associated with significant economic, environmental, and social tolls^{88–90}. Many Indigenous communities are interested in transitioning towards clean energy sources to meet their energy needs, increase sovereignty, enhance environmental sustainability, decrease energy expenditures, and even generate sustainable incomes by selling power to the main grid⁹⁰.

As part of the Pan-Canadian Framework (PCF) on Clean Growth and Climate Change, the federal government has committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions in rural and remote communities in general by aiding in their transition towards clean energy sources⁹⁴. Prime Minister Justin Trudeau has also promised to ensure that diesel is eliminated from Indigenous communities by 2030⁹⁵. Moreover, the federal government provides funding for Indigenous communities to develop their own community-led clean energy projects, including MRE^{96,97}. Public and private utility companies could also aid in the communities' transition towards clean energy sources as part of their reconciliation mandate by providing technical and financial support in the development of community energy plans, resources assessment, planning and construction of clean energy projects and training locals in device operation (Interviewee 3).

However, it is important to acknowledge that clean energy initiatives do not always contribute to reconciliation, but may also perpetuate colonial structures⁹⁰, for example, in the case of hydropower projects in northern Manitoba in 1970s that resulted in the relocation of an Indigenous population against their wishes⁹⁸. While Canada does mandate consultations with Indigenous communities, a lack of open-mindedness and genuine effort to seek compromise among government actors and proponents may undermine relationship-building and reconciliation objectives⁹⁹. This may be of particular concern when proponents are international companies, which may not fully understand the historical context surrounding Indigenous-crown relationships (Interviewee 4). Moreover, Stefanelli et al. (2019) note that while meaningful participation, collaboration, and engagement are crucial for project support and approval, Indigenous communities often strive to achieve energy sovereignty through community-driven renewable energy projects. Indigenous, community-driven clean energy projects done right ultimately result in decreased energy costs, contribute to communities'

economic prosperity and independence and create an opportunity to direct more funds into community-development initiatives, such as education, job training and social supports⁹⁰. This suggests that supporting Indigenous community-driven projects that may foster their energy sovereignty could constitute one of the pathways towards reconciliation. Marine renewable energy may also be well-positioned to provide power to a remote island or coastal communities, due to the abundance of these resources along Canada's coast as well as the lack of vast land availability in island communities for installation of onshore renewables (Interviewee 2).

6. Future electricity demand and potential roles for MRE

Achieving an economy-wide net-zero emissions objective will require the electrification of transportation, buildings, and industrial sectors, leading to an increased demand for non-emitting electricity. In light of this, Canada's renewable electricity capacity must expand rapidly^{3,100,101}. Simultaneously, existing electricity production must be decarbonized or offset by carbon capture and storage technologies if cannot be decarbonized fully¹⁰⁰. *Canada's Energy Outlook 2021* projects that to meet the rising electricity demand the generation could increase two-fold by 2050 if Canada reaches its net-zero objective⁴. If net-zero is achieved earlier – which aligns more closely with the equitable effort sharing principle prescribed by the Paris Agreement^{102–104} – the electricity demand in 2050 could be even higher, as evident from net-zero 2045 scenario projected by Canada's Energy Outlook⁴. However, the projected role of electricity in the decarbonization of Canada's economy varies depending on model assumptions: projected share of electricity in final energy consumption in 2050 ranges between 28% and 66% ¹⁰⁰, representing significant uncertainty in future demand.

As for trends in the sources of electricity generation, Canadian Energy Outlook predicts a tremendous increase in wind and solar capacity, with wind production expected to increase by a factor of 15 by mid-century compared to 2016 levels⁴. These projections, however, do not differentiate between onshore and offshore wind resources. The report also projects that other renewables - which, among others, include tidal stream and wave energy - will increase slightly, but will not contribute significantly to electricity generation by mid-century¹⁰⁵. The limited projected development of these resources could be explained by the decline in price for wind and solar energy technologies that are currently projected to dominate the market^{4,105}. It is important to note, however, that these projections are based on

assumptions regarding market development and future technology price and are hence subject to uncertainties and limitations.

In line with the Canadian Energy Outlook reports, the results of our interviews with industry groups, academics and government officials generally suggest that while offshore wind may be developed to a larger degree, tidal and wave may contribute to the decarbonization of Canada's economy through niche uses (Box 3) and are unlikely to account for a significant share of the overall electricity production in Canada (Interviewees 2, 4). Experts note that the relatively low costs of onshore wind and solar energy make the wider implementation of these resources favorable as compared to tidal and wave energy (Interviewees 4, 6). Lack of large-scale implementation of tidal and wave, in turn, may preclude the technologies from decreasing in price sufficiently to compete with more mature renewables unless the wider implementation is achieved outside of Canada. Moreover, the installation and maintenance of the devices in the sea is intrinsically more challenging and expensive, contributing to higher costs for tidal and wave and suggesting that these technologies are unlikely to match the price of onshore wind and solar energy production anytime soon (Interviewee 1).

Unlike tidal and wave technologies, the offshore wind industry may have a better chance for large-scale commercial growth in Canada, as multiple large-scale offshore wind farms are already operational in Europe and the technology is already cost-competitive outside of Canada due to high capacity factors (Interviewee 4). Moreover, fewer components of offshore wind turbines come into contact with salt water than do those of wave and tidal devices, which results in less challenging design and better longevity of parts (Interviewee 4).

Box 3: Niche markets for MRE

1. Decarbonizing remote off-grid communities. Canada's off-grid communities – or non-integrated areas – currently rely on diesel, which is costly, dangerous to transport, and associated with environmental hazards (Interviewee 3). Connecting some of these communities to the main grid is impractical or very expensive in many cases, which makes generating local power with marine renewables a desirable substitute; several tidal, run of river, and wave projects are already in development, funded by the federal and provincial governments (Interviewees 1, 2, 3, 6, 8). MRE projects also provide local employment and skills training and allow remote communities to develop and own their own power sources, building resiliency into the community and directly benefitting its citizens (Interviewees 3, 4, 8).

- 2. Complimenting other renewables. Increasing the rates of deployment of intermittent renewable energy sources, such as onshore wind and solar, requires the presence of more consistent and predictable energy sources to supply power when sun and wind are weak or absent ¹⁰¹. Tidal and offshore wind energy could be used to complement intermittent renewables, as energy from tides is predictable and forecastable (Interviewees 1, 2, 6) and offshore winds are usually stronger and more consistent than onshore winds (Interviewee 6). As a result, future deployment of MREs could reduce reliance on hydroelectric dams as means of energy storage and compensate for the intermittence of onshore renewables (Interviewees 6, 8).
- **3. Powering island communities.** MREs could be particularly useful in powering island communities that have limited available space to construct onshore installations (Interviewees 1, 2).
- 4. Ensuring a just transition for workers in coastal regions. The decline in offshore oil and gas production is associated with negative outcomes for the workers of these industries in coastal regions such as Newfoundland and Nova Scotia (Interviewee 6). MRE projects in these regions could benefit from the existing supply chain, as well as provide new job opportunities for those previously employed in the offshore gas and oil industry (Interviewee 6). Hence, while MRE may be more expensive than onshore renewables at present, they may serve an important role in ensuring just energy transition for the workers of coastal regions affected by the decline in offshore fossil-fuel production (Interviewee 6).
- 5. Decarbonizing marine industries. MRE could also be used to power marine industries, such as oil and gas production, aquaculture, or mining in coastal regions (Interviewee 6). As has been mentioned previously, MRE deployment in the regions that have offshore oil and gas industry could benefit from the existing supply chain (Interviewee 6). The use of MRE to decarbonize oil and gas may, however, create opposition from local communities. For example, Interviewee 3 noted that the Haida had expressed their opposition to a large offshore wind project in their territories because the produced electricity was designated for LNG liquefaction.
- **6. Producing cleaner fuels for transport.** MRE could also be used to produce hydrogen or ammonia (Interviewees 4, 8), which are emerging fuel sources for transport generally, especially for ships on long-term voyages which cannot be powered by electricity alone. The energy produced from offshore wind, for example, can be used to desalinate water and produce hydrogen¹⁰⁶ (Interviewee 8).

7. Conclusions

An unprepared regulatory environment, several failed deployments, the need for additional evidence to support the viability of novel marine renewable energy (MRE) technologies, and economic competition from terrestrial wind and solar have prevented Canada from capitalizing on its wealth of MRE resources and expanding the sector. Despite these challenges, offshore wind has potential as a large-scale development option, and tidal and wave will likely serve an important niche role in contributing to Canada's energy decarbonization while simultaneously, fostering the development of Canada's blue economy. This is due to several strengths of MRE:

- 1. The predictability of MRE supply can support a more efficient power storage and transmission system by flattening out grid loads to complement other, more intermittent renewable energy sources such as solar and onshore winds⁷.
- 2. Installing MRE devices could avoid the spatial limitations and costs of building terrestrial power plants close to metropolitan areas, where energy demand is highest^{9,31}.
- 3. The evidence to date suggests that marine renewable energy developments (MREDs) have less of an ecological impact than terrestrial renewables and fossil fuel energy^{55,73}, though continued research and monitoring are needed to assess the impacts of MREDs at large scales.
- 4. MRE can play a unique role in providing power to island nations, coastal communities, or remote off-grid Indigenous communities that have access to substantial offshore wind, river current, wave, or tidal resources. This is particularly important as many of these communities currently rely on expensive and highly polluting diesel power generation¹¹. Community-led and community-owned MRE projects could provide economic benefits to local stakeholders and lessen environmental pollution associated with diesel generation.
- 5. MRE could help to decarbonize other carbon-intensive industries, such as offshore mining, aquaculture, and transportation by providing clean energy for their operations (Interviewees 6, 7).
- 6. MRE could create job opportunities for coastal communities currently reliant on employment from carbon-intensive industries (e.g., natural gas and petroleum). These new jobs could contribute to a post-pandemic economic recovery and ensure a just energy transition. This is especially true for areas where fossil fuel industries are declining, and mass layoffs are common (Interviewees 2, 6).

Despite these strengths, our findings show that there is uncertainty around the future development of marine renewable technologies in Canada. While offshore wind, tidal and wave might not be likely to make up the lion's share of Canada's overall electricity production on their own, they may compliment other renewables and fill important niches by providing energy where other methods of generation are ill-suited, all while having a low environmental impact and reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

During our interviews, policy, and regulatory barriers to the expansion of MRE emerged as a common theme; however, a systematic analysis of existing policies and regulations

preventing MRE's growth in Canada was beyond the scope of this report. Future research should focus on assessing policy and regulatory barriers impeding the growth of the MRE industry, as well as the potential approaches that can be taken by provincial and federal government to overcome these barriers. Given the high uncertainty in the environmental impacts of MRE deployments at large scales, great efforts should also put on environmental monitoring and research to better understand and manage these impacts. Furthermore, we have identified that while public acceptance of MRE may determine the success of MRE deployments, studies exploring public perception of these technologies in Canada are limited. Thus, more research is needed on exploring the public perception of MRE in Canada's coastal communities, including communities around the Great Lakes.

8. References

- Government of Canada. Government of Canada legislates climate accountability with first netzero emissions law. https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climatechange/news/2021/06/government-of-canada-legislates-climate-accountability-with-first-netzero-emissions-law.html (2021).
- 2. Government of Canada. Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/climate-plan/net-zero-emissions-2050/canadian-net-zero-emissions-accountability-act.html (2021).
- 3. Meadowcroft, J. *Pathways to net zero: A decision support tool.* vol. 3 (The Transition Accelerator, 2021).
- 4. Langlois-Bertrand, S. *et al. Canadian Energy Outlook 2021 Horizon 2060*. https://iet.polymtl.ca/en/energy-outlook/ (2021).
- Natural Resources Canada. NRCan: About Renewable Energy. nrcan.gc.ca
 https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/our-natural-resources/energy-sources-distribution/renewable-energy/about-renewable-energy/7295 (2009).
- 6. Lewis, A. et al. Coordinating Lead Authors: Ocean Energy 38.
- 7. Moomaw, W. et al. Renewable Energy and Climate Change. Renew. Energy Clim. Change 48.
- 8. Dong, C., Huang, G. (Gordon) & Cheng, G. Offshore wind can power Canada. *Energy* **236**, 121422 (2021).
- 9. Marine Renewables Canada. 2018 State of the Sector Report: Marine Renewable Energy in Canada. (2018).
- 10. Charlier, R. H. & Finkl, C. W. *Ocean Energy*. (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009). doi:10.1007/978-3-540-77932-2.
- 11. Marine Renewables Canada. Clean, Blue Energy: Powering Canada's Blue Economy with Marine Renewable Energy, Submission to the Government of Canada's Blue Economy Strategy. https://marinerenewables.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/MRC-Blue-Economy-Strategy-Submission-FINAL-1.pdf (2021).
- 12. Enevoldsen, P. & Jacobson, M. Z. Data investigation of installed and output power densities of onshore and offshore wind turbines worldwide. *Energy Sustain. Dev.* **60**, 40–51 (2021).
- 13. Coles, D. *et al.* A review of the UK and British Channel Islands practical tidal stream energy resource. *Proc. R. Soc. Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* **477**, 20210469 (2021).
- 14. Van Bussel, G. J. W. & Zaayer, M. B. Reliability, availability and maintenance aspects of large-scale offshore wind farms, a concepts study. *MAREC 2011 Proc. 2-Day Int. Conf. Mar. Renew. Energ. Newctle. UK 27-28 March 2001* (2001).
- 15. Offshore wind energy technology. (Wiley, 2018).
- 16. Díaz, H. & Guedes Soares, C. Review of the current status, technology and future trends of offshore wind farms. *Ocean Eng.* **209**, 107381 (2020).
- 17. Canada's Energy Regulator (CER). Canada's Adoption of Renewable Power Sources Energy Market Analysis.
- 18. Levelized Costs of New Generation Resources in the Annual Energy Outlook 2021. 25 (2021).
- 19. Crabtree, C. J., Zappalá, D. & Hogg, S. I. Wind energy: UK experiences and offshore operational challenges. *Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part J. Power Energy* **229**, 727–746 (2015).
- 20. O'Doherty, T., O'Doherty, D. M. & Mason-Jones, A. Tidal Energy Technology. in *Wave and Tidal Energy* (eds. Greaves, D. & Iglesias, G.) 105–150 (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2018). doi:10.1002/9781119014492.ch4.
- 21. Waters, S. & Aggidis, G. Tidal range technologies and state of the art in review. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* **59**, 514–529 (2016).

- 22. Wall, D. Fundy tidal power project nears finish line. https://canada.constructconnect.com/dcn/news/projects/2021/01/fundy-tidal-power-project-nears-finish-line) (2021).
- 23. Tethys Engineering. La Rance Power Station. https://tethys.pnnl.gov/project-sites/la-rance-tidal-barrage (2019).
- 24. International Hydropower Association. Technology case study: Sihwa Lake tidal power station. https://www.hydropower.org/blog/technology-case-study-sihwa-lake-tidal-power-station.
- 25. WIthers, P. Nova Scotia Power to pull plug on tidal station, seeks \$25M from ratepayers.
- 26. Gibson, A., Fulton, S. & Harper, D. Fish Mortality and its Population-Level Impacts at the Annapolis Tidal Hydroelectric Generating Station, Annapolis Royal, Nova Scotia: a Review of Existing Scientific Literature. https://epe.lac-bac.gc.ca/100/201/301/weekly_acquisitions_list-ef/2019/19-51/publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2019/mpo-dfo/Fs97-6-3305-eng.pdf (2019).
- 27. Robertson, B., Bailey, H. & Buckham, B. Wave: A Primer for British Columbia. 48 (2021).
- 28. Canadian Hydraulics Centre. Inventory of Canada's Marine Renewable Energy Resources. (2006).
- 29. Terra, N. 5 US offshore wind projects and skills needed for the 'Green New Deal'. https://www.airswift.com/blog/offshore-wind-energy-projects-usa.
- 30. Taner, M. T., Fomel, S. & Landa, E. Separation and imaging of seismic diffractions using plane-wave decomposition. in *SEG Technical Program Expanded Abstracts 2006* 2401–2405 (Society of Exploration Geophysicists, 2006). doi:10.1190/1.2370017.
- 31. Kornei, K. Ocean Terrain and the Engineering Challenges for Offshore Wind Farms. https://eos.org/features/ocean-terrain-and-the-engineering-challenges-for-offshore-wind-farms?mkt_tok=OTg3LUIHVC01NzIAAAGBHvCUw6OuSlqRp1cu1dF_qj5zPOpmYj5BsIfnSPqJoCG-CAnLH7Kvy0Z2rF4qKsbC5B3JrVSmF-5UzUawEiCsiVFEZHBMJ5CWvl3xDNQ (2021).
- 32. Nachimuthu, S., Zuo, M. J. & Ding, Y. Modelling factors affecting operation and maintenance costs of offshore wind farms. 7.
- 33. Musial, W. & Ram, B. Large-Scale Offshore Wind Power in the United States: Assessment of Opportunities and Barriers. https://www.osti.gov/biblio/990101 (2010) doi:10.2172/990101.
- 34. Stagner, J. A. & Ting, D. S. K. *Sustainable Engineering for Life Tomorrow*. (Rowman & Littlefield, 2021).
- 35. MacDougall, S. Financial evaluation and cost of energy. (2012).
- 36. Jansen, M. *et al.* Offshore wind competitiveness in mature markets without subsidy. *Nat. Energy* **5**, 614–622 (2020).
- 37. Allan, G., Gilmartin, M., McGregor, P. & Swales, K. Levelised costs of Wave and Tidal energy in the UK: Cost competitiveness and the importance of "banded" Renewables Obligation Certificates. *Energy Policy* **39**, 23–39 (2011).
- 38. Russell, A. Site Level Cost Benefit Analysis of Renewable Energy in the Near-shore Environment. (University of Washington, 2015).
- 39. Canada, N. R. Canada Makes Historic Investments in Tidal Energy in Nova Scotia. https://www.canada.ca/en/natural-resources-canada/news/2020/11/canada-makes-historic-investments-in-tidal-energy-in-nova-scotia.html (2020).
- 40. Jacobson, M. Z. & Delucchi, M. A. Providing all global energy with wind, water, and solar power, Part I: Technologies, energy resources, quantities and areas of infrastructure, and materials. *Energy Policy* **39**, 1154–1169 (2011).
- 41. Lee, J. & Zhao, F. Global offshore wind report. (2020).
- 42. Jansen, M. *et al.* Offshore wind competitiveness in mature markets without subsidy. *Nat. Energy* **5**, 614–622 (2020).
- 43. Barrington-Leigh, C. & Ouliaris, M. The renewable energy landscape in Canada: A spatial analysis. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* **C**, 809–819 (2017).
- 44. Appiott, J., Dhanju, A. & Cicin-Sain, B. Encouraging renewable energy in the offshore environment. *Ocean Coast. Manag.* **90**, 58–64 (2014).

- 45. The Offshore Wind Industry Council (OWIC). OWIC https://www.owic.org.uk (2021).
- 46. Ontario's Clean Energy Potential. *OREA* https://top10projects.ca/project/ontarios-clean-energy-potential/.
- 47. World Atlas. World Atlas / World Map / Atlas of the World Including Geography Facts and Flags Worldatlas.com WorldAtlas.com https://www.worldatlas.com/aatlas/world.htm (2020).
- 48. More, M. Tiny Islands, Big Energy: How Orkney, Scotland Is Fighting Climate Change. (2020).
- 49. Almoghayer, M. A., Woolf, D. K., Kerr, S. & Davies, G. Integration of tidal energy into an island energy system A case study of Orkney islands. *Energy* 122547 (2021) doi:10.1016/j.energy.2021.122547.
- 50. Orkney wide energy audit. (2014).
- 51. Watson, S. Quantifying the variability of wind energy. WIREs Energy Environ. 3, 330–342 (2014).
- 52. Elliott, D., Schwartz, M. & Scott, G. Wind Resource Base. in *Encyclopedia of Energy* (ed. Cleveland, C. J.) 465–479 (Elsevier, 2004). doi:10.1016/B0-12-176480-X/00335-1.
- 53. EMEC European Marine Energy Centre. *Orkney.com* https://www.orkney.com/life/industry/energy/emec (2022).
- 54. Orbital Marine Power Launches O2: World's Most Powerful Tidal Turbine. *Orbital Marine* https://orbitalmarine.com/orbital-marine-power-launches-o2/ (2021).
- 55. Dale, V. H., Efroymson, R. A. & Kline, K. L. The land use–climate change–energy nexus. *Landsc. Ecol.* **26**, 755–773 (2011).
- 56. Cook, A. S. C. P., Humphreys, E. M., Bennet, F., Masden, E. A. & Burton, N. H. K. Quantifying avian avoidance of offshore wind turbines: Current evidence and key knowledge gaps. *Mar. Environ. Res.* **140**, 278–288 (2018).
- 57. Hastie, G. D. *et al.* Harbour seals avoid tidal turbine noise: Implications for collision risk. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **55**, 684–693 (2018).
- 58. Onoufriou, J., Russell, D. J. F., Thompson, D., Moss, S. E. & Hastie, G. D. Quantifying the effects of tidal turbine array operations on the distribution of marine mammals: Implications for collision risk. *Renew. Energy* **180**, 157–165 (2021).
- 59. Clark, C. *et al.* Acoustic masking in marine ecosystems: intuitions, analysis, and implication. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **395**, 201–222 (2009).
- 60. Finneran, J. J. Noise-induced hearing loss in marine mammals: A review of temporary threshold shift studies from 1996 to 2015. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* **138**, 1702–1726 (2015).
- 61. Götz, T. *et al.* Overview of the Impacts of Anthropogenic Underwater Sound in the Marine Environment. *OSPAR Comm.* 134 (2009).
- 62. Popper, A. N., Fewtrell, J., Smith, M. E. & McCauley, R. D. Anthropogenic Sound: Effects on the Behavior and Physiology of Fishes. *Mar. Technol. Soc. J.* **37**, 35–40 (2003).
- 63. Verfuß, T. Noise mitigation systems and low-noise installation technologies. in *Ecological Research at the Offshore Windfarm alpha ventus: Challenges, Results and Perspectives* (eds. Maritime, F., Agency, H., Federal Ministry for the Environment, N. C. & Safety, N.) 181–191 (Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2014). doi:10.1007/978-3-658-02462-8_16.
- 64. Boehlert, G. & Gill, A. Environmental and Ecological Effects of Ocean Renewable Energy Development A Current Synthesis. *Oceanography* **23**, 68–81 (2010).
- 65. Hutchison, Z. L., Lieber, L., Miller, R. G. & Williamson, B. J. Environmental Impacts of Tidal and Wave Energy Converters. in *Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences* B9780128197271001000 (Elsevier, 2021). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-819727-1.00115-1.
- 66. Love, M. S., Nishimoto, M. M., Clark, S. & Bull, A. S. *Renewable Energy in situ Power Cable Observation*. 106 (2016).
- 67. Schultz, I. R., Woodruff, D. L., Marshall, K. E., Pratt, W. J. & Roesijadi, G. *Effects of Electromagnetic Fields on Fish and Invertebrates*. PNNL-19883, 1012305 http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/1012305-8qxNeV/ (2010) doi:10.2172/1012305.
- 68. Wyman, M. T. *et al.* Behavioral responses by migrating juvenile salmonids to a subsea high-voltage DC power cable. *Mar. Biol.* **165**, 134 (2018).

- 69. Inger, R. *et al.* Marine renewable energy: potential benefits to biodiversity? An urgent call for research. *J. Appl. Ecol.* (2009) doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01697.x.
- 70. Mavraki, N., De Mesel, I., Degraer, S., Moens, T. & Vanaverbeke, J. Resource Niches of Cooccurring Invertebrate Species at an Offshore Wind Turbine Indicate a Substantial Degree of Trophic Plasticity. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **7**, 379 (2020).
- 71. Benhemma-Le Gall, A., Graham, I. M., Merchant, N. D. & Thompson, P. M. Broad-Scale Responses of Harbor Porpoises to Pile-Driving and Vessel Activities During Offshore Windfarm Construction. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **8**, 664724 (2021).
- 72. Vallejo, G. C. *et al.* Responses of two marine top predators to an offshore wind farm. *Ecol. Evol.* **7**, 8698–8708 (2017).
- 73. Copping, A. E., Freeman, M. C. & Overhaus, D. M. Risk Retirement for Environmental Effects of Marine Renewable Energy. 35 (2020).
- 74. Gill, A. B. Offshore renewable energy: ecological implications of generating electricity in the coastal zone: Ecology and offshore renewable energy. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **42**, 605–615 (2005).
- 75. Öhman, M. C., Sigray, P. & Westerberg, H. Offshore Windmills and the Effects of Electromagnetic Fields on Fish. *AMBIO J. Hum. Environ.* **36**, 630–633 (2007).
- 76. Normandeau, E., Tricas, T. & Gill, A. Effects of EMFs from Undersea Power Cables on Elasmobranchs and Other Marine Species.

 https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/environmental-stewardship/Environmental-Studies/Pacific-Region/Studies/2011-09-EMF-Effects.pdf (2011).
- 77. Polagye, B., Van Cleve, B., Copping, A. & Kirkendall, K. *Environmental Effects of Tidal Energy Development*. 186 (2011).
- 78. Hastie, G. D. *et al.* Acoustic risk balancing by marine mammals: anthropogenic noise can influence the foraging decisions by seals. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **58**, 1854–1863 (2021).
- 79. Trillium Power Wind Corporation. Trillium Power Wind Project: Wind 1. *Trillium Power* https://www.trilliumpower.com/energy/project-wind-1/.
- 80. Cooper, M. *Trillium Power vs. Her Majesty the Queen (Ontario Gov't), Statement of Claim.* (2011).
- 81. Jami, A. A. & Walsh, P. R. The role of public participation in identifying stakeholder synergies in wind power project development: The case study of Ontario, Canada. *Renew. Energy* **68**, 194–202 (2014).
- 82. Jami, A. A. & Walsh, P. R. From consultation to collaboration: A participatory framework for positive community engagement with wind energy projects in Ontario, Canada. *Energy Res. Soc. Sci.* 27, 14–24 (2017).
- 83. CBC News. What's the deal with Muskrat Falls? Answers to a few frequently asked questions | CBC News. CBC https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/muskrat-falls-whats-the-deal-1.5083458 (2019).
- 84. Christidis, T., Lewis, G. & Bigelow, P. Understanding support and opposition to wind turbine development in Ontario, Canada and assessing possible steps for future development. *Renew. Energy* **112**, 93–103 (2017).
- 85. Kucic-Riker, J. The Treaty 8 First Nations and BC Hydro's Site C Dam. *Undercurr. J. Crit. Environ. Stud.* **20**, 38–45 (2017).
- 86. Canada Energy Regulator. Market Snapshot: Overcoming the challenges of powering Canada's off-grid communities. https://www.cer-rec.gc.ca/en/data-analysis/energy-markets/market-snapshots/2018/market-snapshot-overcoming-challenges-powering-canadas-off-grid-communities.html (2021).
- 87. Duran, S. & Sahinyazan, F. G. Why renewable energy 'mini-grids' in remote communities fail and how to avoid it. *University of Calgary* https://ucalgary.ca/news/why-renewable-energy-mini-grids-remote-communities-fail-and-how-avoid-it (2021).

- 88. Advanced Energy Centre. *Enabling a Clean Energy Future for Canada's Remote Communities*. https://www.marsdd.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/Clean-Energy-Future-for-Canada%E2%80%99s-Remote-Communities-.pdf (2015).
- 89. Mercer, N., Hudson, A., Martin, D. & Parker, P. "That's Our Traditional Way as Indigenous Peoples": Towards a Conceptual Framework for Understanding Community Support of Sustainable Energies in NunatuKavut, Labrador. *Sustainability* **12**, 6050 (2020).
- 90. Stefanelli, R. D. *et al.* Renewable energy and energy autonomy: how Indigenous peoples in Canada are shaping an energy future. *Environ. Rev.* **27**, 95–105 (2019).
- 91. Weis, T. M., Ilinca, A. & Pinard, J.-P. Stakeholders' perspectives on barriers to remote wind-diesel power plants in Canada. *Energy Policy* **36**, 1611–1621 (2008).
- 92. CBC News. Puff of opposition could blow Ontario's energy schedule down | CBC News. CBC News https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/puff-of-opposition-could-blow-ontario-senergy-schedule-down-1.578350 (2006).
- 93. Firestone, J. *et al.* Reconsidering barriers to wind power projects: community engagement, developer transparency and place. *J. Environ. Policy Plan.* **20**, 370–386 (2018).
- 94. Natural Resources Canada. Reducing diesel energy in rural and remote communities. https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/climate-change/green-infrastructure-programs/reducing-diesel-energy-rural-and-remote-communities/20542 (2018).
- 95. Sharma, R. Trudeau promises to eliminate diesel during Iqaluit visit. *Nunavut News* https://www.nunavutnews.com/nunavut-news/trudeau-promises-to-eliminate-diesel-during-iqaluit-visit/ (2019).
- Energy, Mines and Low Carbon Innovation. More First Nation communities to advance cleanenergy projects in B.C. | BC Gov News. Government of B.C. https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2021EMLI0078-002407 (2021).
- 97. Natural Resources Canada. Clean energy for rural and remotec ommunities (CERRC) Program. (2018).
- 98. Hoffman, S. M. Engineering poverty: Colonialism and hydroelectric development in Northern Manitoba. *Power Struggl. Hydro Dev. First Nations Manit. Quebec* 103–128 (2008).
- 99. Ariss, R., Fraser, C. M. & Somani, D. N. Crown policies on the duty to consult and accommodate: Towards reconciliation? *McGill Int. J. Sustain. Dev. Law Policy* **13**, 1–55 (2017).
- 100. Dion, J., Kanduth, A., Moorhouse, J. & Beugin, D. *Canada's net zero future: Finding our way in the global transition*. (2021).
- 101. Shaffer, B. *Technical pathways to aligning Canadian electricity systems with net zero goals*. https://climatechoices.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/CICC-Technical-pathways-to-aligning-Canadian-electricity-systems-with-net-zero-goals-by-Blake-Shaffer-FINAL-1.pdf (2021).
- 102. Dooley, K. *et al.* Ethical choices behind quantifications of fair contributions under the Paris Agreement. *Nat. Clim. Change* **11**, 300–305 (2021).
- 103. *Paris Agreement*. (2015).
- 104. van Soest, H. L., den Elzen, M. G. & van Vuuren, D. P. Net-zero emission targets for major emitting countries consistent with the Paris Agreement. *Nat. Commun.* **12**, 1–9 (2021).
- 105. Langlois-Bertrand, S., Vaillancourt, K., Bahn, O., Beaumier, L. & Mousseau, N. *Canadian Energy Outlook*. (Institut de l'énergie Trottier, 2018).
- 106. Baraniuk, C. The global race to produce hydrogen offshore. *BBC News* https://www.bbc.com/news/business-55763356 (2021).